Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Court Administrator and Clerk

Electronically FILED on 10/6/2017 by Celia Wong, Deputy Clerk

CASE #: S244737

Case No.	
----------	--

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## MONTROSE CHEMICAL CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

v.

## SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent;

# CANADIAN UNIVERSAL INSURANCE COMPANY, INC., et al.,

Real Parties In Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three Civil Case No. B272387

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. In a complex multi-year, multi-insurer, multi-layer comprehensive general liability ("CGL") program, does the standard "other insurance" condition in CGL policies dictate when an excess insurer's obligations to its policyholder are triggered, or are such provisions relevant only to contribution disputes between insurers, as this Court held in *Dart Industries, Inc. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1059 ("*Dart*") and the Fourth District Court of Appeal recently confirmed in *State of California v. The Continental Ins. Co.* (Cal. Ct. App. Sept. 29, 2017, E064518) 2017 Cal.App. LEXIS 846 ("*Continental* Opinion")?
- 2. Notwithstanding policy language stating that an excess policy attaches upon the exhaustion of a defined amount of immediately underlying insurance in the same period, does the presence of an "other insurance" provision obligate the policyholder to first pursue and exhaust coverage under excess policies issued in every other potentially triggered period spanning the years of continuous damage (including policies with more onerous terms and conditions), thereby effectively imposing mandatory horizontal exhaustion of excess coverage, in contravention of *State of California v. Continental Ins. Co.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 186 ("Continental"), Aerojet–Gen. Corp. v. Transport Indemnity Co. (1997) 17

Cal.4th 38 ("Aerojet"), and Montrose Chem. Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co. (1995) 10 Cal.4th 645 ("Montrose")?

#### II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Petition represents the apex of persistent litigation between the insurance industry and CGL policyholders concerning coverage for large-scale environmental and similar property damage claims. Once more leading the way in the national debate, this Court should again grant review to answer the most encompassing indemnity insurance question to date: *In a multi-year, multi-layer, multi-insurer coverage program, which insurers may be called upon to pay the policyholder's continuous damage liabilities and when?* 

This question has resonated loudly in the years since *Continental*, which declared that California law entitles policyholders facing continuous damage liabilities to obtain coverage from *any* triggered policy under an "all sums with stacking" interpretation. Having failed to convince the Court to adopt their mandatory rule of "pro rata" exhaustion of excess insurance policies, the insurance industry has since searched tirelessly for an alternative method to restrict the basic coverage granted by each individual policy. Here, Insurers—led by the same party whose arguments were rejected in *Continental*—seek to accomplish their goal by a different means: compelling policyholders to "horizontally" exhaust all lower-level

excess coverage across all years before tapping individual excess policies triggered by their plain terms.

To do so, Insurers misinterpret policy language and California law, exalting the boilerplate "other insurance" clauses of standardized CGL excess policies into a provision that purportedly prohibits policyholders from accessing coverage under any particular excess policy until first litigating coverage under *every* lower-level policy issued in other coverage periods. At Insurers' behest, Respondent Superior Court ruled that the standard "other insurance" provisions contained in all of Montrose's policies obligated Montrose to horizontally exhaust its excess coverage. Respondent expanded a Court of Appeal decision issued prior to Continental and Dart, which required horizontal exhaustion of defense coverage under *primary* policies, <sup>1</sup> to *indemnity* coverage under *excess* policies. After the Second District Court of Appeal ("DCA") initially declined to review Respondent's erroneous decision, which did not even attempt to reconcile its ruling with this Court's interpretation of "other insurance" provisions in *Dart*, this Court granted review and directed the DCA to consider the merits of Montrose's position.

On remand, the DCA effectively reached the same result as Respondent by concluding that standard "other insurance" language

Community Redevelopment Agency v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 329 ("CRA").

compels horizontal exhaustion, regardless of insuring language providing that the Policies attach "after other *identified* insurance is exhausted." (Opinion at p. 1333 (emphasis added); cf. *id.* at p. 1328 [Montrose's position relies on "the insuring agreements and declarations"—i.e., the provisions specifying when coverage attaches].) The DCA attempted to narrow the scope of its sweeping pronouncement by directing further examination of whether "each of the policies at issue has an 'other insurance' clause" (*id.* at p. 1334, fn.7), but ultimately conceded that the result of its "other insurance" analysis is "mandatory horizontal exhaustion" for any policy containing that standard condition. (*Id.* at pp. 1335-1336.)<sup>2</sup>

The DCA's Opinion would make new law, creating nearly insurmountable coverage barriers for policyholders in continuous damage cases, because it directly contradicts this Court's prior determination in *Dart* that "other insurance" provisions apply *only* to prevent double recovery and to permit insurers who cover the same loss to equitably allocate responsibility for the policyholder's claim, after the policyholder has been fully indemnified. (See *Dart*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 1080;

\_

There is no dispute that *all* of the Policies at issue contain boilerplate "other insurance" language—Insurers expressly acknowledged as much and Respondent Superior Court explicitly so found. (See Answer to Montrose's Petition at p. 28; 1PA1 at pp. 55-56).

compare Opinion at p. 1332 ["Montrose's assertion about 'other insurance' clauses *finds no support in* **Dart**."] [emphasis added].)

In failing to abide by this Court's clear pronouncement in *Dart*, the DCA's Opinion also creates an express conflict with a nearly contemporaneous decision recently issued by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Upon remand from this Court's decision in *State v. Continental*, Continental unsuccessfully advanced the same misguided horizontal exhaustion arguments urged here. The Superior Court squarely refused to apply "horizontal exhaustion" to the excess policies at issue, rejecting Continental's reliance on both "other insurance" language and any "rule" purportedly mandated by *CRA*. (2PA11 at pp. 295:3-297:8.) The Fourth District affirmed, recognizing that *Dart* conclusively establishes that "other insurance" provisions do not impact the policyholder's right to recovery under triggered insurance policies. (See *Continental* Opinion, at \*18-20.)<sup>3</sup>

Compounding its erroneous application of the "other insurance" provision, the DCA's Opinion also calls into question decades of this Court's jurisprudence regarding the trigger of coverage for continuous losses under occurrence-based policies, suggesting that those decisions do

\_

The Fourth District's ruling that "other insurance" provisions do not limit policyholders' rights to access a particular excess policy once the immediately underlying coverage has been exhausted, although not yet final (see Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.264(b)(1)), represents a direct conflict with the DCA's Opinion.

not apply to excess policies. (See Opinion at pp. 1326-1327 ["[T]he court in *Continental* did not consider the aspect of 'trigger of coverage' before us in this case—what lower layer excess policies must be exhausted before a higher-layer excess policy is triggered."].) As a result, the DCA invites confusion and multiplication of complex insurance disputes, as excess insurers use the Opinion as new fodder to re-litigate coverage obligations under law previously settled. Indeed, insurers immediately began citing the DCA's ruling as a basis to avoid or delay their obligations to policyholders.<sup>4</sup>

The DCA's "other insurance" ruling will not only increase coverage litigation exponentially, but far worse, will deprive policyholders of their immediate right to coverage under the plain terms of a single excess policy by bringing all "other insurance" into play before any one policy must pay. This unprecedented rule would require policyholders to tap into and exhaust separate excess policies spread across all coverage years before obtaining benefits under any one policy triggered by its own insuring language. Insurers would invoke this implied coverage limit despite the fact that the selected policy does not mention (much less require) exhaustion of adjacent years—separate and independent coverage which

\_

See Request for Judicial Notice, filed in support of Montrose's Petition for Review ("RJN"), Declaration of Drew T. Gardiner, ¶¶ 2-3, Exhibits 1, 2.

may not even have existed at the time the policy in question was written. This contrived obligation would even require exhaustion of unrelated policies with different or potentially greater coverage restrictions before broader excess coverage may be tapped. Ultimately, this scheme would improperly allow insurers to defeat coverage that plainly exists and to convert policyholders' insurance assets into their own, benefiting from policyholders' prudent decision to obtain coverage in other years, even though the insurers did not bear the cost of that purchase.

Montrose's position, by contrast, rests on the plain policy language of each individual policy, and on insurance coverage principles long declared by this Court: Policyholders should not have their coverage rights truncated by any artificial, extra-policy exhaustion or "other insurance" scheme, much less a "mandatory horizontal exhaustion" rule fundamentally at odds with the "all sums with stacking" interpretation recognized in *Continental*. Rather, California law expressly enforces the policyholder's right to call upon any of the individual insurance contracts it purchased. (See Aerojet, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 57 & fn.10 ["successive" insurers 'on the risk when continuous or progressively deteriorating [property] damage . . . first manifests itself' are separately and independently 'obligated to indemnify the insured'" (citing *Montrose*, supra, 10 Cal.4th at pp. 686-687)]; Continental, supra, 55 Cal.4th at pp. 200-201 ["each policy can be called upon to respond to the claim up to the

full limits of the policy," and once "the policy limits of a given insurer are exhausted, [the insured] is entitled to seek indemnification from *any* of the remaining insurers on the risk." (emphases added; alteration in original)].)

The issues of exhaustion, allocation, and horizontal and vertical stacking in continuous damage cases are not easy, but they are unquestionably important. Because they involve literally *billions* of coverage dollars and challenging legal questions, these issues are litigated intensively by an insurance industry focused on shifting the burden of insurance recovery onto the backs of policyholders. Coverage delayed is often coverage denied, and this Court has called for "immediate" indemnification, not protracted policyholder litigation in inter-carrier insurance battles over contribution. (*Continental*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 201; *Dart*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 1080.) Definitive resolution of these weighty issues, once again, calls this Court to the forefront of national insurance jurisprudence.<sup>5</sup>

\_

Courts across the country—including most recently New York's highest court—are also grappling with insurers' attempts to force mandatory horizontal exhaustion upon policyholders. (See *Matter of Viking Pump, Inc.* (N.Y. 2016) 27 N.Y.3d 244, 265 [permitting policyholder to vertically exhaust because "the excess policies at issue primarily hinge their attachment on the exhaustion of underlying policies that cover the same policy period as the overlying excess policy" and because "vertical exhaustion is conceptually consistent with an all sums allocation"].)

This complex litigation involving most of the industry's largest excess CGL insurers provides an ideal vehicle for resolution. The DCA's evasion of *Dart*, its limitation of decades of "trigger" jurisprudence, and its unwarranted extension of a pre-*Dart/Continental* Court of Appeal ruling (*CRA*) to excess coverage layers, requires prompt correction. Otherwise, courts across the state will, as the recent conflicting Court of Appeal decisions confirm, continue to issue contradictory rulings and litigants will incur significant time and expense in unwieldy coverage litigations like this one. The cost of obtaining coverage should not exceed the coverage benefit itself—an inevitable consequence of forcing policyholders to endlessly litigate the insurers' respective obligations in continuous loss, multi-policy cases.

Last October, this Court recognized the widespread importance of the issues presented by Montrose's petition when it directed the DCA to consider the merits of the parties' arguments. The DCA's decision repeats the fundamental mistake made by the Superior Court, and conflicts with the subsequent decision from the Fourth District Court of Appeal. This Court should grant review to resolve this "important" question of law and "secure uniformity of decision" in the courts below. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)<sup>6</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> (See *Briggs v. Brown* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 808, 861 [explaining the Supreme Court's "important role . . . to secure harmony and uniformity

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Montrose was formerly the world's largest producer of DDT, a pesticide and anti-malarial agent. In 1990, various government plaintiffs sued Montrose, seeking damages arising from alleged releases of hazardous substances into the environment as a result of Montrose's operations at its former manufacturing facility in Torrance. (4PA17 at pp. 869-70.)

Pursuant to partial consent decrees with the government plaintiffs,

Montrose already has incurred damages of more than \$100 million, and its anticipated future liability could approach or exceed that amount. (2PA12 at pp. 300-568.) These damages must be paid to fund environmental cleanup.

Between 1961 and 1985, the <u>40</u> defendant Insurers issued over <u>115</u> excess CGL policies (the "Policies") providing coverage to Montrose. (4PA17 at pp. 865-69; see 1PA5 at p. 99.) Each of the Policies provides that coverage thereunder attaches in excess of a *predetermined* amount of

in the decisions [of the Courts of Appeal], their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, [and] a uniform rule of decision throughout the state"]; *Montrose*, *supra*, 10 Cal.4th at p. 661 [granting petition to decide "the complex and important issue" of which CGL policies are triggered when continuous damage spans multiple policy years]; *People v. Manzo* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 880, 884 [granting review "[b]ecause of [a]

17

published conflict" between Courts of Appeal].)

underlying insurance.<sup>7</sup> Each Policy describes the applicable underlying coverage in one of four ways:

- Schedule of underlying insurance listing known underlying policies in the same policy year by insurer, policy number, and dollar amount;<sup>8</sup>
- 2. Specific dollar amount of underlying insurance in the same policy period *and* schedule of underlying insurance on file with the insurer;<sup>9</sup>
- 3. Specific dollar amount of underlying insurance in the same policy period *and* identifying at least one underlying insurer; <sup>10</sup> or
- 4. Specific dollar amount of underlying insurance that corresponds with the combined limits of underlying policies in that policy period.<sup>11</sup>

Cf. Commercial Union Assurance Cos. v. Safeway Stores, Inc. (1980) 26 Cal.3d 912, 919 ["The object of the excess insurance policy is to provide additional resources should the insured's liability surpass a specified sum." (emphasis added)]; Wells Fargo Bank v. Cal. Ins. Guarantee Assn. (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 936, 940, fn. 2 ("Wells Fargo") ["[W]e use the terms 'excess coverage' or 'excess policy' to mean insurance that begins only after a predetermined amount of underlying coverage is exhausted . . . ." (emphasis added)].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See 1PA10, p. 279 at ¶14 (listing 25 Policies employing this method).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id.*, p. 278 at ¶12 (listing 13 Policies employing this method).

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  *Id.*, pp. 276-77 at ¶10 (listing 35 Policies employing this method).

<sup>11</sup> *Id.*, p. 275 at ¶8 (listing 35 Policies employing this method).

Therefore, each of the Policies expressly provides that coverage attaches in excess of a specific, predetermined amount of underlying coverage *in the same policy year*. The DCA did not reconcile its ruling with this attachment language, instead claiming (falsely) that "while Montrose repeatedly asserts that the excess policies attach upon the exhaustion of lower layer policies within the same policy period, *it does not identify the provisions that supposedly have that effect.*" (Opinion at p. 1327 (emphasis added).) To the contrary, Montrose cited the above provisions multiple times in its briefs. (See Writ Petition at pp. 19, 36, 59-60; Combined Reply at p. 30.)

Consistent with other standardized CGL policies, the Policies also contain or incorporate an "other insurance" condition, which typically provides:

If other valid and collectible insurance with any other insurer is available to the Insured covering a loss also covered by this policy, other than insurance that is in excess of the insurance afforded by this policy, the insurance afforded by this policy shall be in excess of and shall not contribute with such other insurance.<sup>12</sup>

Citing this boilerplate language, Insurers argued that Montrose cannot access coverage under any one policy unless and until Montrose exhausts *all* "underlying coverage" *in every policy period across the* 

Approximately 90 of the Policies contain this formulation of the "other insurance" provision. The other Policies contain similar variations. (See generally 1PA6 at pp. 118-166, ¶¶ 1-21.)

decades of damage. This requirement is not supported by the "other insurance" provisions, and would be grossly oppressive in practice given the many different attachment points and varying terms of the hundreds of triggered Policies stretching over Montrose's multi-decade coverage portfolio. (See generally Attachment 2.) Because of the inordinately complicated undertaking required to determine the manner in which "underlying" policies are exhausted, "mandatory horizontal exhaustion" could deprive Montrose of immediate indemnification under its Policies.

Montrose amended its operative Complaint to assert a standalone cause of action to resolve this dispute, which the parties agreed was a critical threshold legal issue necessary to structure the litigation. (4PA17 at pp. 900, 914.) The parties filed cross-motions for summary adjudication of Montrose's Thirty-Second Cause of Action. Montrose's motion sought a declaration that it could seek coverage under any chosen excess policy after proving exhaustion of the immediately underlying policies, and Insurers' cross-motion argued that Montrose was obligated, as a matter of law, to allocate its losses evenly across all periods. Insurers did not argue that supposed variations in policy language prevented resolution of this threshold and pivotal legal issue.

Respondent Superior Court denied Montrose's motion and granted Insurers' cross-motion. (1PA2 at pp. 80-82.) Respondent held that Montrose is required as a matter of law to horizontally allocate its coverage

claim across all policy periods, thereby preventing Montrose from vertically accessing excess coverage in any one period, even after exhaustion of the Policy(ies) directly beneath it, until first exhausting coverage available from Policies issued by different insurers and governed by different terms, in every other period. (1PA1 at pp. 59:27-60:6.)

Montrose timely petitioned the DCA for writ review, which was denied summarily on July 13, 2016. On October 12, 2016, this Court granted Montrose's petition for review and transferred the case back to the DCA, with directions to vacate the order denying Montrose's petition and to issue an order to show cause why the relief Montrose sought should not be granted. Following additional briefing and oral argument, the DCA issued its opinion on August 31, 2017. (See *Montrose Chemical Corp. v. Super. Ct.* (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 1306 ("Opinion"), attached hereto as Attachment 1.)

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