Case No. S244737

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

**MONTROSE CHEMICAL CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA,
Petitioner,**

v.

**SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,
Respondent;**

**CANADIAN UNIVERSAL INSURANCE COMPANY, INC., et al.
Real Parties in Interest.**

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

**After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Three
Civil Case No. B272387**

**Los Angeles County Superior Court
Case No. BC 005158, Honorable Elihu Berle, Judge**

BERKES CRANE ROBINSON & SEAL LLP

Steven M. Crane (SBN 108930)

scrane@bcrslaw.com

Barbara S. Hodous (SBN 102732)

bhodous@bcrslaw.com

I. INTRODUCTION

The Petition for Review of Montrose Chemical Corporation of California (“Montrose”) should be denied. As explained below, this case does not present any conflict in California law, any need for deciding unsettled questions of law, or any other appropriate grounds for review by this Court. California Rules of Court 8.500(b).¹

¹ The excess insurer defendants who join Continental Casualty Company's and Columbia Casualty Company's Answer are: Allstate Insurance Company, solely as successor-in-interest to Northbrook Excess and Surplus Insurance Company; American Centennial Insurance Company; Lamorak Insurance Company (formerly known as OneBeacon America Insurance Company, as Successor-in-Interest to Employers Commercial Union Insurance Company of America, The Employers’ Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd., and Employers Surplus Lines Insurance Company); Employers Mutual Casualty Insurance; Federal Insurance Company; Fireman's Fund Insurance Company; National Surety Corporation; Everest Reinsurance Company as successor in interest to Prudential Reinsurance Company (“Prudential”) and Mt. McKinley Insurance Company as successor in interest to Gibraltar Casualty Company (“Gibraltar”); Providence Washington Insurance Company as successor by way of merger to Seaton Insurance Company, fka Unigard Security Insurance Company, fka Unigard Mutual Insurance Company; Transport Insurance Company (as successor-in-interest to Transport Indemnity Company); Munich Reinsurance America, Inc., f/k/a American Re-Insurance Company; AIU Insurance Company, American Home Assurance Company, Granite State Insurance Company, Landmark Insurance Company, Lexington Insurance Company, National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA; New Hampshire Insurance Company; Westport Insurance Corporation, formerly known as Puritan Insurance Company, former known as Manhattan Fire and Marine Insurance Company; Employers Insurance of Wausau.

This case concerns insurance coverage as to Montrose’s liability for long-term environmental contamination arising out of the operations of its DDT plant in Torrance, California from 1946-1982. The proceeding from which Montrose petitions for review concerned the method by which Montrose may access its multiple excess insurance policies across the years of that continuing loss. The Court of Appeal addressed that issue with respect to a few of the many policies involved, based on settled law in continuous loss situations and the policy language in the policies at issue. It remanded the case so that the trial court could determine the effect of the policy language of *each* excess policy because it concluded it did not have a complete record from which it could make broader decisions. [Opinion of Court of Appeal is Attachment 1 to the Montrose Petition for Review, 14 Cal.App.5th 1306 (2017), hereafter “Opinion.”]

There is no need to secure uniformity of decisions or to settle an important question of law. CRC 8.500(b)(1).

First, there are no California appellate opinions that adopt the “elective vertical stacking” position Montrose advances here.² There are

² A very recently decided case, *State of California v. Continental, et al.* 2017 Cal.App. LEXIS 846, not final as of this writing, included a ruling on exhaustion in the situation where the excess policies refer to underlying

also no California appellate opinions inconsistent with the conclusion of the Court of Appeal in this case that horizontal exhaustion principles of *Community Redevelopment Agency v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Company*, 50 Cal.App.4th 329, 340 (1996) should be applied to exhaustion of excess policies before higher level excess policies attach. There are no California appellate opinions that find *Community Redevelopment* was wrongly decided. And there are no California Supreme Court decisions that contradict the Court of Appeal Opinion here as to how the policy language (including “other insurance” clauses as referenced in Montrose’s Issues Presented) affects the method of accessing excess policies in continuing loss cases.

Second, review is not necessary “to settle an important question of law.” Again, because California law is settled that the policy language controls, there is no important issue to resolve. All the case law makes plain that attachment point determinations are made on the basis of the actual language in the policies. No case holds otherwise. The Court of

self-insured retentions, rather than underlying insurance. That case is discussed at section II.A.3.*infra*. It does not discuss “elective vertical stacking.” Moreover, it agrees with the *Montrose* Opinion that policy language controls, and that the policy language in the two cases differs materially, according to both courts, because of the self-insured retentions in the State insurance program.

Appeal applied this incontestable principle that the policy language controls. What Montrose requests would unsettle the law.

The horizontal exhaustion rule set forth in *Community Redevelopment* has been good law for more than twenty years, acknowledged repeatedly by other cases such as *Padilla Construction Company, Inc. v. Transportation Insurance Company*, 150 Cal.App.4th 984, 986-987 (2007); *Montgomery Ward & Company v. Imperial Casualty & Indemnity Co.*, 81 Cal.App.4th 356, 365 (2000); *Stonewall Insurance Company v. City of Palos Verdes Estates*, 46 Cal.App.4th 1810, 1852-1853 (1996). No California appellate decision has challenged the reasoning or the result in *Community Redevelopment* -- including the newest *State of California v. Continental* appellate decision.

In addition, the nature of Montrose's request for "elective vertical stacking" inherently unsettles the law because Montrose seeks for itself and other insureds to be allowed to, at its whim, pick which policies it wants to access in any order for any reason (see, e.g., page 39 of Petition). Such a ruling, by its very nature, would not settle the law as to Montrose or any other insured. Montrose's ad hoc approach provides no certainty -- or even a guiding principle -- and is contrary to California rules governing policy

interpretation and this policy language in particular. As Justice Mosk noted in dissent in *In Re Marriage of Assemi*, 7 Cal.4th 896, 912 (1994): “As a general matter, this court grants review in order to ‘secure uniformity of decision or the settlement of important questions of law.’ [citations] In this proceeding, the majority secure neither. Quite the contrary. They unsettle the law as it stands today and sow the seeds for a harvest of conflict in the future.”

Third, this case is not in a posture conducive to review by the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeal concluded that the sequencing of access to the excess policies must be determined based on the language of the insurance policies and in context -- an unremarkable conclusion consistent with long-standing Supreme Court jurisprudence. *Bank of the West v. Superior Court*, 2 Cal.4th 1254, 1265 (1992); *Producer’s Daily Delivery Company v. Sentry Insurance Co.*, 41 Cal.3d 903, 916-917 (1986). Although the Court also determined that “[o]ur analysis of the policies, moreover, leads us to conclude that many of the policies attach not upon exhaustion of lower-layer policies within the same policy period, but rather upon exhaustion of *all* available insurance” [Opinion, 14 Cal.App.5th at 1327], importantly for purposes of the pending Petition for Review, the

Court of Appeal sent the case back to the trial court for further proceedings, as follows:

[The Parties] did not provide the trial court, and have not provided this court, with all of the policy language or with copies of the policies themselves. The absence of these policies makes it impossible for us to ‘interpret [policy] language *in context*, with regard to its intended function in the policy. [Opinion, 14 Cal.App.5th at 1337, italics in the Opinion.]³

Thus, the Court of Appeal held that the sequence in which excess insurance policies can be accessed in this continuing injury context must be determined on a policy-by-policy basis and therefore it could not determine *on the record before it* that *each* of the more than 115 excess policies requires horizontal exhaustion.

³ Montrose asserts on page 19 of its Petition that the Court of Appeal stated “falsely” that Montrose did not identify the provisions which support its claim that excess policies attach upon the exhaustion of policies in the same policy year. But as the quoted portion of the Opinion shows, the Court of Appeal’s stated concern was broader. Moreover, Montrose did not file a Petition for Rehearing calling the Court’s attention to this alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact. See CRC 8.500(c)(2). Accordingly, the Supreme Court should decline to consider Montrose’s current description of these facts. *People v. Guilford*, 228 Cal.App.4th 651, 660-661 (2014); *Torres v. Parkhouse Tire Service, Inc.*, 26 Cal.4th 995, 1000, fn. 2 (2001).

Fourth, the Issues Presented by Montrose are not suitable for Supreme Court review. They are directed to one particular policy provision which was not even the basis for the Opinion, is not contained in all the policies in this case, may vary from case to case, cannot be read in isolation from the rest of the policy, and has not been interpreted by the Supreme Court in the manner described by Montrose.

Montrose's Issues Presented are, at best, abstract propositions, disconnected from the Court of Appeal Opinion it presumably seeks to have reversed. Montrose purports to be seeking nothing more than answers to hypothetical questions about the effect of some abstract "other insurance" clause. Each Issue Presented is premised on the false assumption that the Opinion is based entirely on "boilerplate 'other insurance'" clauses "dictating" when excess insurers' obligations are triggered. The Issues Presented are formulated so as to suggest that the Opinion contradicts Supreme Court authority and "mandates" a sequencing approach to exhaustion. Neither is true; nothing in the Opinion contradicts Supreme Court authority, and the Opinion merely holds that what mandates the appropriate sequencing approach is the actual language of the policies in a continuing injury context.

Moreover, the language of the policies is what Montrose bargained for. And the recognition that insurance policies across the years of continuing injury are all implicated by a single continuing loss is a result of what Montrose itself demanded and obtained in *Montrose Chemical Corporation of California v. Admiral Insurance Company*, 10 Cal.4th 645 (1995). As explained in both the Court of Appeal Opinion and below, the decisions in *Dart Industries, Inc. v. Commercial Union Insurance Company*, 28 Cal.4th 1059 (2002) and *State of California v. Continental Insurance Company, et al*, 55 Cal.4th 186 (2012) (“*Continental*”), cited in the Issues Presented, while important cases for other principles, do not address the issues in this case.

Montrose’s premise that the Opinion mandates, or “dictates,” a horizontal exhaustion approach is false. The Court of Appeal ruled that while “many of the policies attach . . . upon exhaustion of *all* available insurance,” (and gave examples at pages 1327-1329), it remanded for a determination by the trial court, in the continuing injury context and in light of the policies as a whole, ***whether each policy*** so provides. The Court of Appeal Opinion, therefore, does not “impose mandatory horizontal exhaustion” as Montrose repeatedly asserts. (See, e.g., pages 8 [in the

Issues Presented], 14, 20, 30, 31, 34, 36, 37, 41, etc.) Instead, the Court of Appeal directs the trial court to consider the policy language of each of the other excess policies to determine whether each policy provides for horizontal exhaustion under the principles set forth in the Opinion. Specifically in response to Montrose’s arguments that “mandatory” horizontal exhaustion was being imposed, the Court of Appeal held:

We do not agree that our holding in this case has the effect of “obligating” any policyholder to seek indemnification under any particular policy. *All we hold today is that insureds must exhaust lower layers of coverage before accessing higher layers of coverage if the language of the excess policies so requires. . . .* [Opinion, 14 Cal.App.5th at 1335, emphasis in Opinion.]

Thus, there is no basis for review by this Court at this time, particularly in light of the posture of this case and the present record.

II. REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED BECAUSE THIS CASE DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA OF CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT 8.500(b)(1)

A. There Is No Inconsistency In the Appellate Case Law Requiring Supreme Court Intervention

There is no California appellate case law that supports Montrose’s theory that “elective vertical” exhaustion applies in a continuing injury case, let alone any involving the policy language at issue here. There is no California appellate case law interpreting the policy language and context here that contradicts the Opinion regarding horizontal exhaustion. Thus, there is no inconsistency or lack of uniformity among appellate cases requiring the Supreme Court’s involvement. CRC 8.500(b)(1). Montrose makes no showing that there are inconsistencies between appellate cases that need to be resolved.

Instead, Montrose implies “lack of uniformity” by relying on certain Supreme Court cases that decided issues completely different than those involved here, mainly *State of California v. Continental*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th 186⁴ and *Dart*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th 1059; trial court rulings, including trial court rulings from other states; and the recent Court of Appeal opinion in

⁴ Montrose also relies on the *unpublished* 2009 appellate opinion in that same case, which likewise decided different issues than those involved here. See, Montrose Petition at 32, 35.

State of California v. Continental Insurance Company, 2017 Cal.App.

LEXIS 846, a case concerning prejudgment interest, that is not final as of this writing and which the Court itself distinguished from the *Montrose* Opinion on its facts and policy language.

1. *Continental*, 55 Cal.4th 186 (2012)

Montrose attempts to show that the Opinion in this case is inconsistent with this Court’s opinion in *Continental*. But as the Court of Appeal in the current case explained in detail at 14 Cal.App.5th 1323-1328, this Court in *Continental* did not address, let alone decide, exhaustion issues:

As we now discuss, *Continental* does not dictate the result in this case. Importantly, both the relevant policy language and the issues confronting the *Continental* court were very different from the language and issues before us; and nothing in *Continental* suggests that, in the context of the present case, an insured has an absolute right to “select which policy(ies) to access for indemnification in the manner they deem more efficient and advantageous.” [*Id.*, at 1323]

Instead, the *Continental* decision determined two issues: (1) that an insured could “stack” the limits of triggered policies *consecutively* throughout the period of continuing damage -- and not just be restricted to coverage within a single policy period. [*Continental*, 55 Cal.4th at 201], and (2) that once triggered, a policy must pay “all sums” rather than a pro rata amount of property damage during the policy period. [*Id.* at 199] This Court found that the limits of such *successive* triggered policies could be “stacked.” But the issue of how different levels of excess insurance exhaust was not before the Court. This Court in *Continental* was not asked to and did not decide exhaustion issues among different levels of excess insurance. As the *Montrose* Court of Appeal explained:

[W]hile *Continental* held that each “triggered” policy may be called upon to respond to a claim (*Continental, supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 200), it did not consider when a higher-layer excess policy is “triggered” in the context of a long-tail environmental injury. That is, *Continental* discussed the “trigger of coverage” issue *temporally*, . . . Because it was not called upon to do so, the court in *Continental* did not consider the aspect

of “trigger of coverage” before us in this case -- what lower-layer excess policies must be exhausted before a higher-layer excess policy is triggered. [Opinion, 14 Cal.App.5th at 1326-1327.]

This Court’s decision in *Continental* did not grant policyholders license to “spike” coverage vertically through progressively higher levels of excess policies prior to exhaustion of lower level horizontal limits in other years triggered by the same loss. It did not even consider that question. A case is not authority for a proposition it did not consider. *Johnson v. Bradley*, 4 Cal.4th 389, 415 (1992).

2. *Dart*

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